
Walking Tour  
Booklets: 
The Northern Liberties and 
South Philadelphia 

 
PhilaPlace 2011 
 
 
In spring 2011, two walking tours were offered as part of the 
public history project PhilaPlace.  For each, a booklet was 
ŎǊŜŀǘŜŘ ǘƻ ǎǳƳƳŀǊƛȊŜ ǘƘŜ ǘƻǳǊ ƎǳƛŘŜΩǎ information.  They are 
presented here for those who wish to recreate the tour 
themselves. 
 

  



 

The Northern Liberties: 

Building on ñRuinsò 
 

 

A walking tour guide created by Nathaniel 

Popkin for PhilaPlace, a project of the Historical 

Society of Pennsylvania 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ï philaplace.org ï 



T 

The Northern Liberties: Building on ñRuinsò 
Crafting the contemporary urban landscape 

 

 

INTRODUCTION: William Penn was a regionalist. In Philadelphia, he envisioned a ñgreat city,ò 

with its port and institutions of religion and governance, connected to large plantations and farm 

communities  in the hinterlands, or liberties. The symbiotic relationship between city and liberties lasted 

well beyond Penn, as the Northern Liberties took on a more open, and in some ways more tolerant, 

character than the city itself. And by the early 1800s, with its huge Second Street market (3 miles 

long!) and numerous inns, mills, and workshops, it too became one of the largest cities in the nation. 
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ñIt was many and many a year ago, 
in this kingdom  by the seaò 

E.A. Poe and the enduring civilizations of Germans, Lithuanians, 

Ukrainians, and Quakers 

 

Tour begins: Edgar Allan Poe House, Seventh above Spring Garden 
 

Stop A: Edgar Allan Poe House 
 

 
he mills and workshops grew up around 

the streams and ponds of the Cohocksink 

Creek; this was marshland  in the early days 

of Philadelphia,  a haven for ice skating and 

swimming. Early on, it was also a place of 

freedom for African Americans who founded 

a pair of vanguard churches, African Zoar and 

Mt. Tabor. By the mid-1800s, it was becoming an 

immigrant haven: German Jewish immigrants 

moved here to be near German Catholics and 

Protestants then later came a succession of 

Ukrainians,  Lithuanians, Romanians,  Rus- 

sians and Jews from those same countries. 

A relative sense of openness  and tolerance 

gave residents a sense that it could be a place 

to make oneôs own. Meanwhile the Northern 

Liberties remained  a place of technological 

innovation and invention and industry grew 

rapidly after 1850. 

 
The mid-1900s brought deindustrialization, 

suburbanization, and racial flux. The neigh- 

borhood was depopulated even as Urban Re- 

newal brought  stable middleïclass housing 

for African Americans and as the emergent 

Puerto Rican community into west Kensing- 

ton, at the edge of greater Northern Liberties. 

By the  1970s, much  of this section  of the 

city was emptyðit was a modern ruins. This 

tour  is about  living in, responding to, and 

ultimately crafting contemporary urban life 

from the ruins. 

 

 
{[1]}  ñIt was  many and  many a year 

ago, in this kingdom by the seaò 

E.A. Poe and the enduring  civilizations 

of Germans,  Lithuanians, Ukrainians, 

and Quakers 

Tour begins: Edgar Allan Poe House, Seventh 

above Spring Garden 

{[2]}  ñThat was our worldò 

Vision and evisceration: Marshall Street, 

Mt. Tabor, urban renewal, and the end 

of time 

Tour begins: 900 N. Marshall Street (at Poplar) 
 

{[3]}  ñToil and an act of faithò 

Creating space: Liberty Lands and the 

promise of neighborhood life 

Tour begins: 5th and Poplar Streets 
 

{[4 ]}  ñWe have to rethink everythingò 

Onion Flats and the Piazza: Space, 

sustainability, and the new city 

Tour begins: Hancock and Germantown Ave. 
 

{[5]}  ñI fought new lif e to findò 

The Crane Building and Al-Aqsa Mosque: 

mirrors on the emerging world 

Tour begins: American Street and Girard Ave. 

(Quixote statue) 

 
Weôre going to explore and observe and interpret the changing urban landscape in a place that 

hasðby its name, definition, role in the larger cityðenabled and allowed a sense of invention. 

 

We stand here, of course, in front of the house of the great inventor  of alternative  reality: 

Edgar Allan Poe. He took from the Northern Liberties  of the 1830s and 1840sða quick 

changing place of industryðan ethos of terror, of wildness. 

 

When William Penn arrived in 1682, this was wild land, laced by creeks and bluffs and dotted 

with ponds. Penn, the rationalist,  envisioned a hierarchy  of places: city and liberties, town 

and plantation. Investors in prime city lots at the heart of Pennôs famous grid were also given 

the opportunity to purchase  large plots here in the Liberties. But the Liberties were never 

subjected  to the kind of rules and governance  of the city and so its character developed 

differently. Where the city was confining the Liberties would be freeing. The people come 

here and invent: machinery, machine pumps, steam engines, locomotives, pistols (this is the 

home of Derringer), and large mills grow up around the creeks. The Northern Liberties itself 

grew into one of Americaôs largest early cities and in 1854 was consolidated into the City of 

Philadelphia. And yet it was still physically separate; in the 1800s the Liberties were linked 

to the city by street car and then in 1922 by the Frankford  elevated. 

 

Weôre going to start the tour by seeing and interpreting the signs and artifacts of the people 

who have come here, invented a world, and left us a mark. We can see those marksðbe they 

buildings, ideas, or institutions as the ñruinsò left by those who have come before. Each 

group adapts to the ruins of the previous group, not in a linear way but through  a dynamic 

processðthis how the city changes. We start the tour by getting a taste for some of these 

ñruins,ò objects in the urban landscape. 

 
If we look around, we see a kind of dull urban landscape, but 

interpretation requires us to look a little closer, for we have 

to learn to see and imagine not only whatôs here today, but 

what was here in years past. 

This is Poeôs house in 1843 and 1844. While in Philadelphia 

he wrote many of his most famous stories including  ñThe 
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Black Cat,ò ñMurders in the Rue Morgue,ò and ñThe Tell-Tale Heart.ò Across the way is a 

late 1800s-early 1900s immigrant social club, the Latvian Society, which was founded in 

1892. It is the oldest of its kind outside of Latvia, and you can still  sit at the bar and chat in 

Latvian, if  you li ke. There  are three  such clubs, founded by Eastern  European  immigrant 

groups of the late 19th century, still  in operation  in the neighborhood. The other  two are 

Russian and Ukrainian. 

 
At corner of Seventh Street and Spring Garden, turn left and cross Seventh 

Street, walk to German Society on Spring Garden. 
 

Stop B: German Society of Pennsylvania 
 

By 1892, the year of the founding of the Latvian Society, Philadelphia  had more than 600 

secular, non-political German organizations that ranged from singing societies to lodges and 

gymnastics clubs. This is the German Society of Pennsylvania, which was created  in 1764. 

We can begin to form a picture of the movement of people across the landscape. Groups of 

people leave things behind; and we in the present decide whatôs valuable enough to saveða 

very complicated process! 

 

The German Society is the oldest German organization of its kind in the United States. It 

offered charitable  and practical  assistance to newly arriving immigrants.  It later evolved 

into a cultural organization,  with a research  library focused on German American history, 

and settled here in this building in 1888. 

 

The German Society established  a variety of programs  to aid newly arrived German im- 

migrants adjust to life in the United States. An employment  bureau, a legal aid committee, 

and English classes were among the organizationôs offerings. The library was established 

in 1817 to serve the reading interest  and needs of the GSP membership, and the German 

American Archive was founded in 1867 specifically to collect materials documenting Ger- 

man American history. 

German Philadelphia encompassed many diverse subcultures, including Lutherans, Catho- 

lics, socialists, and the working and middle classes; a sense of common German identity was 

forged primarily through fraternal societies. The German Society aimed to provide a neutral 

ground for German Americans to meet, although  in reality its membership was primarily 

middle-class. By the 20th century, the German Societyôs mission had evolved from providing 

charitable assistance to immigrants into preserving German American history and culture. 

Today, the  German  Society offers its members German-language instruction, cultural 

programs,  lectures,  and a research and lending  library  dedicated to German  American 

history. Housed in the recently restored  original 1888 reading room, the Joseph P. Horner 

Memorial Library contains 70,000 volumes, including over 50,000 German-language books. 

 
Continue to walk on Spring Garden to Sixth Street, left on Sixth Street, past 

former Synagogue on left. 

What happens  as groups and cultures move on? What do we do with their ñruins?ò Youôll 

notice, especially in this first part of the tour, that much of the landscape feels empty. This 

is, in effect, one answer to the question. In the 1960s, a response  to natural  evolution and 

movement  of people through  the city, and often up and out to the suburbs, was to remove 

the ñblightò left behind.  That  happened here  in this western  part  of the neighborhood. 

But we have to see that as a legitimate response to the inherited reality of the time period, 

just as later in this tour weôll see more contemporary responses to the same ongoing issue. 

 
Continue two blocks to Fairmount, right on Fairmount one block to Fifth 

Street, turn left onto Fifth and walk half-block, stand on west side of street 

across from St. Andrewôs. 

Stop C: St. Andrewôs Russian Orthodox Cathedral, 

NE corner Fifth and Fairmount 
 
In this case, we have St. Andrewôs Russian Orthodox  Cathedral.  Founded  as St. Andrewôs 

Orthodox Christian Brotherhood in 1897 and consecrated in 1902, St. Andrewôs is the oldest 

Orthodox church in Philadelphia  and traces its roots to the Russian Imperial Navy. In 1898, 

a contingent of Russian sailors was staying in Philadelphia awaiting the completion of their 

two new battleships at Crampôs Shipyard in Kensington. They became devoted congregants 

of the new parish and donated generously to the cathedralôs construction and maintenance. 

The religious icons that grace gate and altar were donated by the sailors. St. Andrewôs became 

a social and cultural center for the Russian Orthodox community, providing economic and 

spiritual aid to immigrants  and new arrivals to the Orthodox faith. 

 

Nowadays there  are few Russians left in the neighborhood and so a church  li ke thisðand 

there several in the neighborhoodðstruggles  to draw congregants. In this case, the church 

has an energetic  pastor who is not Russian, but instead was raised a Quaker, a descendent 

of the storied Lippincott  family of Philadelphia.  And the churchôs congregants  come from 

all over the region. 
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Return to Fairmount, turn right, walk three blocks to Eight Street and 

Fairmount Avenue, NE corner 
 

Stop D: Friends Guild House 

The ruins we find arenôt just buildings or cultures, but institutions and ideas. Philadelphia 

is a Quaker City, but after about 1700 Quakers are only small minority of the population. 

But their influence belies their small numbers. If you look at who, throughout the cityôs his- 

tory, starts the most progressive institutions, it is the Quakers. The Friends Neighborhood 

Guild was established in 1879 as Friends Mission #1 by the Hicksite Friends. Interestingly, 

this strand of Quakerism is started by a group of Quakers who were critical of the powerful 

Philadelphia  Quaker elite for both their tolerance  of slavery, and for their wealth that was 

often the product of enslaved labor. In its first building at Beach Street and Fairmount Av- 

enue, the Friends Mission sought to provide religious and moral uplift to the poor European 

immigrants flooding into the waterfront neighborhoods of Northern Liberties,  offering 

worship services and youth and temperance meetings. In the early 20th century, the Guild 

served mostly Central and Eastern Europeans immigrants and their children, organizing 

vocational training and English classes to help them adjust. Since 1950, the Friends Neigh- 

borhood  Guild has carried  its mission forward and adapted  it to improve  housing in the 

East Poplar neighborhood. 

 
Turn around on Fairmount and walk half block back to Franklin Street, up 

Franklin, cross Brown Street to Ukrainian Catholic Cathedral  

Stop E: Ukrainian Catholic Cathedral 

Ukrainians  have been coming to Philadelphia  since the middle of the 1800s. They have 

come in waves that relate to political and economic changes in Eastern  Europe. This was 

their first Philadelphia neighborhoodðonly a very few descendants of the original residents 

still  li ve here, across the street  from the Cathedral.  There  is the ñUkieò bar, a social club 

much li ke the Latvian Society, only larger. Whatôs interesting is that the Cathedral,  which 

replaced a smaller building from 1907 and which is modeled on the Hagia Sophia in Istan- 

bul, was built in 1966, long after the center of Ukrainian life had moved north  and west to 

other parts of the city and suburbs. Building it here was a conscious effort to resanctify this 

neighborhood as part of the Ukrainian landscapeðat a time when immigration  was again 

increasing (from the Soviet Union). In effect, it was an attempt to build on the ruins of their 

own history here in Philadelphia. 

 

The churchôs golden dome measures 106 feet in height and 100 feet in diameter and consists 

of 22-karat gold fused into hundreds of thousands of one-inch-square Venetian glass tiles. In 

2006, workers cleaned away decades of automotive soot and industrial pollution to restore 

the domeôs golden gleam. However, li ke at St. Andrewôs, maintaining the institution with a 

full -time Metropolitan (church leader) and services for parishioners is difficult, and so this 

of ruin.
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ñThat was our worldò 
Vision and evisceration: Marshall Street, Mt. Tabor, urban renewal, and 

the end of time 

 
Continue walking north on Franklin Street to Poplar Street, right on Poplar 

to Seventh, cross Seventh, and turn left, walk half block to Mt. Tabor African 

Methodist Church 

Stop A: Mt. Tabor African Methodist Church 
 

Like Mother Bethel near South Street, Mt. Tabor is African 

Methodist Episcopal (AME), an independent denomination 

formed from the 1792 African American break with the pre- 

dominately white St. Georgeôs Methodist  Episcopal Church 

in Old City. When  the  white  congregants of St. Georgeôs 

tried to force black members  into segregated  galleries dur- 

ing service, the blacks walked out, prompting the birth  of 

a new denomination. The new AME denomination proved 

especially appealing  to both free blacks and recently freed 

or fugitive enslaved people. 

 

The free black community began settling in Northern Liberties as early as the 1790s, when 

the newly formed state legislature opened up land in the then-outlying district to relieve 

overcrowding  in the city of Philadelphia  proper.  By the 1830s, Northern Liberties  had a 

growing free black population  and played an integral role in Philadelphiaôs Underground 

Railroad network. Mt. Tabor African Methodist Episcopal Church was founded in 1803, and 

the current  house of worship was built in 1875. 

 
Walk through parking lot next to Mt. Tabor to Marshall Street 

 

Stop B: Marshall Street 
 
So we begin to see the landscape in this part of the neighborhood, which appears somewhat 

empty and tired, as deeply imprinted by the li ves and hopes of people. There may have been 

no place in the neighborhood more engraved with the life of a people than Marshall Street, 

here on this very block. So the lesson here is that the deep impression may not always survive 

in an obvious a form as we have seen elsewhere: an old church,  a social service agency, a 

social club. So we have to look for cluesðand the only one really is this, the pushcart mural 

(on the east side of the street, halfway up the block). 

too is in real danger of becoming a kind 
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So what was this? Perhaps  the most intensely li vely Jewish neighborhood in Philadelphia. 

In the  early days of the  20th  century, Jewish merchants set up pushcarts and opened 

storefronts all along Marshall Street. Reminiscent  of a European  village market, li ve fish, 

poultry, fresh produce, baked goods, clothing, jewelry and hardware could all be bargained 

for in multiple languages. As one former resident recalled, ñI loved to go to Marshall Street 

because  Saturday  on Marshall Street  was an open-air,  outdoor,  festival. It seemed  li ke a 

million people [were there].ò 

 

The pushcarts are particularly memorable for those who grew up in the area. As one former 

resident  described it, ñThe pushcart [area] was basically a bazaar. It was akin to what you 

think of the mall today, but all outdoors. . . . Before World War II and growing up there . . 

. there  were pushcarts on both sides of the street ï one right next to each other. . . There 

were pushcarts for bananas, a pushcart for potatoes, one for produce.ò 

 

Another resident recalled how hard families worked in the storefronts.  Women rose to the 

demands of working alongside their husbands and nurturing their children toward American 

success. Even the children were put to work. But, she says, ñwe sort of made friends across 

the street by waving, by coming back and forth when we had a few minutes. After the stores 

were closed, that was when we all got out into the street and played, whether it was tireball, 

whether  it was kingball, or baseball, or just skating, or learning how to ride one of the two 

bicycles that people had on the street.ò 

 

Merchants served not only the Jewish population in Northern Liberties,  but welcomed 

business from the non-Jewish Germans, Ukrainians,  Poles, and Puerto  Ricans who lived 

and worked nearby. ñYou know,ò said a long time resident, ñthe place was a United Nations. 

So many people. So many cultures and languages. My dad himself came to Marshall Street 

by way of Argentina.ò 

 

But then, given deteriorating conditions and a growing Jewish exodus to the suburbs, another 

ideaða powerful ideaðcame along. To counter the growing exodus to the suburbs, the Re- 

development Authority had plans to eliminate the pushcarts and traditional storefronts and 

build a modern retail complex called the ñMarshall Street Mall.ò This ñrenewalò inevitably 

meant  razing homes as well. In 1958, Mayor Richardson  Dilworthôs urban-renewal plan 

signaled the beginning  of the end of bustling commercial  Marshall Street. The Marshall 

Street Mall plan languished and was never actually implemented, but the looming threat of 

demolition drained the lif e out of the neighborhood. Anticipating displacement, many Jewish 

residents moved out before the city could take their homes and businesses. Additionally, as 

families grew more affluent, they moved away from cramped Northern Liberties to greener, 

more spacious neighborhoods in the Northeast, West Philadelphia, and the suburbs. Some 

merchants commuted from their new homes in Oxford Circle and Overbrook to tend to their 

familiesô Marshall Street businesses, but by 1960, the heyday was over. Puerto Rican shop 

owners moved in, but that community  too, moved north in the 1970s. 

Turn right to Poplar. Turn left and walk Poplar to Fifth Street, 

cross Fifth Street to east side. 
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ñToil and an act of faithò 
Creating space: Liberty Lands and the promise of neighborhood life 

 

 
Tour begins: Fifth and Poplar Streets; at Fifth, Poplar and St. John Neumann 

Way come together at a point. Follow St. John Neumann Way for half a block 

to the first alley, N. Orkney Street. 

Stop A: N. Orkney and St. John Neumann Way 

When we talk about cities we talk a great deal about adaptive reuseðthat is the turning  a 

school into a condominium,  a factory into marketplace,  a train trestle into a parkðbut the 

fact is that this is simply the means by which cities change. As the built environment is passed 

down from generation to generation, we take what weôre given, and if  weôre creative enough 

we do something interesting. Even if  weôre not creative enough, and our only response is to 

knock down an old building then the newly vacant lot itself is a kind of measure of our own 

taste and values and of the economics of the present  day. Here, we are in the middle of a 

once bustling, noisy (for all the machinery), time regulated (various work shifts throughout 

the day) little node in the vast city. Present day heirs to all of this have taken cues and built 

a world of their own. As we walk through  these alleys for a few minutes you will  take notice 

of the rather  diverse set of architectural responses. It is a kind of urban free for all. Even 

the streets themselves reveal something about their history, and what emerges is a dialogue 

between past and present,  always with an eye to the future. 

 

On the corner here, stretching from Orkney to Lawrence street is an old diaper factory, now 

the home and studio of an artist. Half a block north on Lawrence is an old horse stable (the 

tallest building on this block of Lawrence), now the home of Duncan Buell, the architect 

who worked in the office of Louis Kahn. 

 
Continue on St. John Neumann Way to Lawrence. Turn right on Lawrence 

and take to Poplar. Turn left and walk to Fourth Street. 

Stop B: Fourth and Poplar 
 
Along the way, you will  notice how people take great pains to personalize the landscape. At 

Lawrence and Poplar (across the intersection on Lawrence, east side of the street) is a log 

cabin, for example, and there are charming  gardens and ñwildò lots as well. At Fourth  and 

Poplar, you will  notice how the idea of the curved wall of the 19th-century building on the NW 

corner was adapted across the street on the contemporary house on the NE corner. Again, 

here is a kind of dialogue. On the SE corner  is Madison Court, a circa-1988 development 

was built on the site of the old Dolly Madison ice cream plant. Philadelphia  was home to 
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several ice cream factories, including Bassettôs (still  based here) and Breyerôs. Local favorite 

Dolly Madison ice cream (Dolly had been a resident  of Philadelphia) was named after the 

first lady, who glamorized ice cream by serving it at White House state dinners. The 32 row 

homes of Madison Court are an early example of converting a razed industrial site into new 

housing. The structures are composed of prefabricated modular parts that were later as- 

sembled into various configurations. You can see the conservative architectural design of the 

1980s. Whatôs notable is that this development emerged from a now forgotten idea in urban 

developmentðñlinkage,ò which aspired to connect downtown skyscraper development with 

affordable residential  construction in neighborhoods. Madison Court was built by Willia rd 

Rouse, in a linkage to the development of Liberty Place in Center City. 

 

Follow Poplar across Fourth Street, past Orianna to Third Street, cross 

Third Street to NE corner. 
 

Stop C: Ortliebôs Brewery and Kaplanôs New 

Model Bakery 
 

Founded  by Civil War veteran  Trubert Ortlieb in 1870, Ortliebôs was one of the few Phila- 

delphia breweries to survive Prohibition and, along with Schmidtôs Brewery, one of the last 

of the great industrial-era local breweries to close. Philadelphia  has a long brewing history 

dating back to the colonial era, but the 1800s marked the heyday of Philadelphia  brewmas- 

ters. Traditionally, Americans consumed English ales due to the availability of the yeast. In 

1840, Bavarian brewmaster John Wagner brought lager yeast from Bavaria and brewed the 

first lager on St. John Street (now North American) near Poplar. Lager beer was very popular 

among German immigrants and fueled the growth of the brewing industry in Philadelphia. 

In 1850, the majority of the German immigrants  in Philadelphia  involved in the brewing 

trade li ved in Northern Liberties. Most breweries started out as small family operations and 

expanded as demand for lager increased. By 1869, there were 60 breweries in Philadelphia, 

and many of them were located in Northern Liberties and Kensington. In those early days 

of lager brewing, there were at least 20 other breweries in the vicinity of Ortliebôs. 

 

The remains of the Ortliebôs is a visible reminder of the importance of the brewing trade in 

Northern Liberties and adjacent Kensington. Ortliebôs Brewery ceased operations in 1981. 

In 1987, the tavern here reopened as Ortliebôs Jazzhaus, featuring li ve jazz every night of the 

week, ranging from local house players to the internationally renowned. 

Founded by Leonard B. Lipkin, Kaplanôs New Model Bakery has been supplying the neigh- 

borhood with challah and rye breads for more than 60 years. Kaplanôs is the only remaining 

Jewish bakery in the area, a surviving link to the large Jewish enclave that  thrived  here 

until the 1950s. 

 
Turning left on Third Street, walk past Kaplanôs and into Liberty Lands Park. 

 

Stop D: Liberty Lands  Park 
 
Liberty  Lands Park is the product  of a grassroots  neighborhood effort to transform an 

industrial brownfield into a vital community  green space. Once the site of the Burk Broth- 

ers Tannery  and later a long play record  factory, the Environmental Protection Agency 

conducted waste-removal projects here in 1987 and soil sampling in 1990 to ensure the lotôs 

environmental safety. In 1995, a developer planned to convert the old leather tannery  into 

loft apartments, but the deal fell through. The developerôs loss was the neighborhoodôs gain 

when the company donated the land to the Northern Liberties Neighborhood Association 

(NLNA) in 1996. Since Northern Liberties was the only neighborhood in the city without a 

public green space, the neighbors envisioned a multi-use park for the site. The NLNA re- 

ceived a grant from the Philadelphia Urban Resources Partnership to get started andðafter 

several years and a lot of sweat equity, hours and hours of pick axing, ameliorating the dead 

soilðthe neighbors created Liberty Lands Park. The transformation of Liberty Lands rallied 

the neighborhood, forging a cohesive sense of community  and providing a public meeting 

and recreation space. The park has played a major role in redefining the neighborhood and 

attracting new residents and developments in the past 15 years. 

 

Liberty Lands features a community garden, a composting area, an herb garden, picnic tables 

and benches, a childrenôs playground, a butterfly garden, and more than 180 trees. Longtime 

resident, artist, and park cofounder Dennis Haugh created the ñCinema Verdeò mural, a work 

in progress that depicts the evolution of the park from wilderness, to factory, to industrial 

wasteland and, finally, to community  park. Bees are used as a metaphor for their sense of 

community  and industry  to tell a story of the transformation of a post-industrial site to a 

green park. A second mural, ñCohocksink,ò was completed  in 2006 and memorializes  the 

(now filled-in) creek that was such a defining feature of the geography, industry, and history 

of Northern Liberties (this site was an early Tuscarora rice mill).  A tribute to its community 

character and aesthetic appeal, Liberty Lands Park has been named one of Americaôs ñGreat 

Public Spacesò by Projects for Public Spaces. 

 
Leave the park from the eastern edge (past the playground), at the corner of 

N. Bodine and N. American Streets. Turn right and walk on Laurel Street, 

crossing Second Street, to #157. 
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ñWe have to rethink everythingò 
Onion Flats and the Piazza: Space, sustainability, and the new city 

 

 
Tour begins: East of Second and Laurel Streets 

 

Stop A: Thin  Flats 
 

In the 1990s the brothers Pat and Tim McDonald began to experiment. Not only were they 

interested in adaptive  reuse  of the streetscape, but in rethinking the built environment 

itself. Their firm, Onion Flats, resurrected an old slaughterhouse just down the street here 

to create a contemporary living space, ñCapital Flats.ò Then, a few years later, they began 

to rethink  buildingsðand the cityscape itselfðfrom the perspective of sustainability  and 

building systems. This project ñThin Flats,ò was built in 2009. At Thin Flats, the builders 

are playing with the regular rhythms of the basic Philadelphia  row house form. And in this 

way we see another  aspect of ñbuilding on ruins.ò The row house, certainly, is a kind of ruin 

in America, a traditional  form that is rarely followed in its original context. The rowhouse 

formðthe ruins of the idea of dense, urban livingðhas been applied to suburban townhouse 

developments and gated communities. In this case, the McDonalds are building on the idea 

of a horizontally  organizedðas compared  to the vertical model of NYCðcity, on a form 

developed in England, transported here, and played out across the grid of Philadelphia. 

 

Of course, it is also full  of contemporary ideas of green  building and sustainability  and 

therefore is the first LEED H Platinum multi-family residence in the state of Pennsylvania. 

 

ñWhy wouldnôt you use power that doesnôt cost anything to generate?ò asks Pat McDonald, 

ñWhy wouldnôt you use a green roof to overcome the heat island effect? Why wouldnôt you 

install a gray water system to save water? What makes you not think of these things?ò 

 

ñItôs a blast,ò says Tim McDonald, ñbecause we have to rethink  everything.ò 
 

 
Walk back up to Second Street, turn right, walk half a block and enter the 

Piazza at Schmidtôs 
 

Stop B: The Piazza at Schmidtôs 

This is the literal ruins of the massive Schmidtôs brewery site. Over at the other end of the 

piazza, youôll see some architectural elements from that monumental building. One of the 

strengths of this project architecturally is the way it incorporates the old industrial landscape, 

opening up views of some of the old buildings and neighborhood sites, while presenting an 

altogether different approach  to city-building. 

Poised on the boundary between Northern Liberties and Kensington, this sprawling 15-acre 

site was home to Schmidtôs, Philadelphiaôs largest and most famous brewery, established in 

1860. Schmidtôs was the last survivor of Philadelphiaôs 19th-century German brewing industry, 

closing down in 1987 after over 125 years and leaving Philadelphia  without a brewery for 

the first time in 300 years. (Today, that is a changing as quite a number of breweries inhabit 

the city and region, making Philadelphia  ñBeer City USA.ò) Schmidtôs Beer ð and its tenac- 

ity ð was a point of pride for all Philadelphians. 

 

Schmidtôs Brewery was founded by German immigrant Christian Schmidt in 1860 and remained 

in the Schmidt family until 1976. Unlike workforces at some other large manufacturers, the 

Schmidtôs Brewery workersðprimarily of German and Irish descentðwere unionized. The 

union, and not the Schmidt family, took care of the recruitment, hiring, and promotion of 

production workers, and provided employee benefits including medical insurance, pensions, 

and recreational programs. This differed from companies li ke the nearby Stetson Hat Com- 

pany, which provided cradle-to-grave services and benefits to employees and their families 

in the hope of instilling workforce loyalty. The Schmidt family was willing to work with the 

union, and Schmidtôs Brewery earned a reputation as a good place to work, often employing 

several generations of the same family. 

 

What we have here nowðfor much of this section of the neighborhoodðwas developed by 

Bart Blatstein. This project, the Piazza, is apartment residences, offices, and retail outlets, 

and this broad public-like space (it is in fact private). Developed in phases, the central piazza 

here was completed in 2009. We have some things to consider in light of the theme of this 

tour. First, is the idea of a ñpiazza,ò borrowed from Italy, a kind of ruin itself. The architects, 

Scott Erdy and Dave McHenry, went to Italy and took note of the scale, proportion, massing, 

and materials used in the traditional  piazza, and also, of course, of its role as central public 

space in the life of a city or town. Like the McDonald brothers, they took the ñruinsò of that 

traditional  form and adapted it to a different place in a different time. The other thing you 

will  see here is that Blatstein meant to create a ñ5-minute neighborhood,ò where residents 

wouldnôt have to travel far or long for anythingðit would all be right here. That idea, and 

the sense of this being a very social, 24-hour place, is comparable to Marshall Street, which 

we visited earlier. There, of course, residents li ved and worked and socialized (if  there was 

time) in place. Thatôs very much what goes on here. 

 

One more thing to consider. Built on the ruins of a brewery is a new kind of city: a city for 

pleasure, fun, and desire. A city life that celebrates the city itself. 

 

Exit at the top of the Piazza to Second Street, turn right walk up Second Street, 

cross Girard Avenue. Turn left, walk half block to N. American Street. Stop at 

statue to Don Quixote. 
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{[ 5 ]} 

ñI fought new life to findò 
The Crane Building and Al-Aqsa Mosque: mirrors on the emerging world 

 

 
 

Tour begins: American Street and Girard Avenue (Quixote statue) 
 

Stop A: Statue of Don Quixote 
 

Standing here with Don Quixote, we have to ask if  itôs an impossible dream to reclaim and 

reinvent  the post industrial city. This cityôs industrial architecture enduresðbut much of it 

continues  to deteriorate, either by neglect, lack of an economically feasible use, or by fi re. 

Some of the best of itðincluding the original building of Schmidtôsðhas been lost. The 

Spanish city of Ciudad Real in the region of La Mancha gifted this 14-foot bronze sculpture 

to the Spanish-speaking people of South Kensington  in 1997 as a token of friendship  and 

cooperation between the two communities.  Quixote overlooks the razed site of Schmidtôs 

Brewery ð the quintessential reminder of Philadelphiaôs former  industrial  might ð and 

embodies the hopes and aspirations  of a ñneighborhood  on the rise.ò 

 
Continue on N. American Street two blocks, cross Master Street 

 

Stop B: Crane Arts Building 
 

This last part of our tour considers the urban future, how groups of people adapt the city 

to their needs and how what they do then spawns further  urban evolution. This city was an 

industrial  giant and li ke a lot of cities it produced  things. And now what does it produce? 

Perhaps  in addition to science and education,  it produces experiences and culture. Thatôs 

whatôs happening here. 

 

Designed by Walter Ballinger and completed  in 1905, the Crane Building was originally 

home to the Crane Plumbing Company. In 2004, artists Nick Kripal and Richard Hricko 

transformed this 117,000-square-foot former ice house and flash-freezing plant into space 

for emerging and established local artists. The five floors of artistsô studios and office suites 

house individual  artists,  design and architecture firms, and arts organizations including 

InLiquid, Claymobile, and Gallery 201. The Crane Arts complex also boasts a huge white 

exhibition space called the Ice Box Gallery. The growth of artistsô collectives and studio and 

exhibition spaces is nurturing Philadelphiaôs arts community, providing both the spaces and 

incentives to li ve and work in the city. 

 
From the Crane Building, go up N. American Street to left on Jefferson, 

one and half blocks to Germantown Avenue 

Stop C: Al -Aqsa Mosque 
 
The contemporary city also tries to find ways to celebrate its diversity. This is yet another 

cultural product  built upon a ruinsðof a history of fragmentation and group competition 

and hatred. In this case, Al -Aqsa Mosque is also built upon another  industrial remnant, this 

the former furniture warehouse of the Dubin Company. 

 

Al -Aqsaôs vibrant mosaic-and-mural exterior, ñDoorways to Peace,ò (along Jefferson Street) 

is the result of an interfaith, collaborative project between Al-Aqsa members, local artists, 

local Muslim and non-Muslim schoolchildren, neighbors, churches, and synagogues. Al-Aqsa 

encompasses  a mosque and cultural  center  for the neighborhoodôs  close-knit Palestinian 

community and other Arab Muslims in the area. Since its founding in 1991, Al -Aqsa has grown 

beyond the mosque to include a grocery and a K-12 school that  provides Islamic studies 

and Arabic language lessons. After September 11, 2001, the mosqueôs leaders and members 

have sought to raise awareness and tolerance of Philadelphiaôs Arab Muslim community to 

counter the growth of anti-Muslim sentiment. By reaching out to their non-Arab neighbors, 

Al -Aqsa has become a welcome hub of community activity in this transitional neighborhood. 

 

The ñDoorways to Peaceò project began in 2003 when Al-Aqsa undertook a community-wide 

effort to both beautify its facade and build bridges between the Muslim and non-Muslim 

communities of South Kensington. Al -Aqsa partnered with the Mural Arts Program, the Arts 

and Spirituality Center (located in West Philadelphia) and artists Joe Brenman, Cathleen 

Hughes, and Fadwa Kashkash, to enlist neighbors, two nearby public schools, Hancock St. 

Johnôs United Methodist Church, and a variety of other individuals and community groups 

to work collectively to transform the Societyôs building and strengthen relationships along 

the way. The team of artists researched Islamic art and for almost a year, the groups met in 

Al -Aqsaôs basement and collaborated on everything from the color scheme to making ceramic 

tiles, painting  the mural on a large swath of fabric and mounting  it the buildingôs façade. 

Joe Brenman  asked the mixed-faith  group of schoolchildren to design tiles that depicted 

their  individual ideas of peace to adorn the exterior  walls. Integrating her research  with 

community  input, artist Cathleen Hughes designed the overall mural for the building and 

led the team of community  painters  to create ñDoorways to Peace.ò 

 

The disparate  groups overcame their initial wariness to make the Al-Aqsa Islamic Society 

building into a living symbol of interfaith community  and cooperation, humanizing the 

Muslim community and forging lasting relationships in the process. In this way we see the 

urban dynamic at work here in the Northern Liberties. People, free to shape their idea of 

the city, are also shaped by the city itself, and we all leave signs of who we are and what we 

are doing here. 
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